IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-161

JAMES HUNTER, Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NEAL A. DUPREE Florida Bar No. 311545 CCRC-South

PAUL KALIL Florida Bar No. 174114 Assistant CCRC-South

ANNA-LIISA JOSELOFF Florida Bar No. 0026283 Staff Attorney

Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South 101 N.E. 3rd Avenue, Suite 400 Ft. Lauderdale, Florida 33301 (954) 713-1284 COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 6, 1992 Mr. Hunter was charged by indictment with one count of first degree murder, three counts of attempted first degree murder, one count of attempted armed robbery, and three counts of armed robbery. (R. 46-49). Mr. Hunter and codefendant Eric Boyd were tried by the same jury. Mr. Hunter was found guilty as charged on all eight counts (R. 291-301) and, after penalty phase proceedings, the jury recommended by a vote of nine-to-three that Mr. Hunter receive the death penalty for the first degree murder of Wayne Simpson. (R. 776).

The trial court found two aggravators: prior violent felony conviction and capital felony committed during a robbery. (R. 826-842). No statutory mitigating circumstances were found however, the court did find ten non-statutory mitigating factors: 1) fetal alcohol syndrome; 2) separation from siblings; 3) lack of mothering nurturing and bonding; 4) physical abuse; 5) emotional abuse and neglect; 6) unstable environment; 7) violent environment; 8) lack of positive role model; 9) death of adoptive mother; and 10) narcissistic personality disorder <u>Id</u>. The trial court sentenced Mr. Hunter to death.

This Court affirmed Mr. Hunter's conviction and sentence on

direct appeal.¹ <u>Hunter v. State</u>, 660 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 1995). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari. <u>Hunter v.</u> Florida, 516 U.S. 1128 (1996).

Mr. Hunter filed his initial postconviction motion in March of 1997. On February 24, 1999, Mr. Hunter filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion. On November 10, 1999, Mr. Hunter filed his final "Second Amended Motion to Vacate Judgments of Convictions and Sentences With Special Request for Leave to Amend" raising thirteen claims.² On January 25, 2000, the trial court entered

² Mr. Hunter's second amended Rule 3.850 motion alleged: (1) trial counsel was ineffective during the guilt phase for failing to (a) challenge the State's case through the knowledge of color photographs which were exculpatory, (b) failing to move for a hearing under <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 246 So. 2d 771 (Fla.1971), before the trial court due to the State's untimely disclosure of

In his direct appeal, Mr. Hunter raised fourteen issues: (1) competency to stand trial; (2) erroneous ruling of competency to stand trial on second motion; (3) improper denial of right to backstrike during jury selection; (4) evidence from the stop and search should have been suppressed; (5) error in denial of motion for continuance; (6) mistrial should have been granted on motion that State committed Brady violation for failing to disclose exculpatory identification photographs; (7) improper admission of evidence of a prior robbery; (8) improper admission of testimony that Mr. Hunter pointed a gun at a colleague; (9) improper limitation on cross-examination of a State witness; (10) failure to hold Richardson hearing on State's failure to disclose it expert had examined the defendant as a juvenile; (11) mistrial required when State's expert opined on the defendant's credibility; (12) the instruction on the cold, calculated and premeditated (CCP) appravating factor was not supported by the evidence; (13) constitutionality of section 921.141 including the CCP aggravator; (14) death sentence was disproportionate.

an order granting an evidentiary hearing on claim (13) to the extent Hunter was arguing that exculpatory photographs existed that trial counsel could have used to demonstrate inconsistencies between the in-court identifications by State

photographs, (c) failing to utilize color photographs during trial, and (d) failing to disclose to the trial court unauthorized alterations in the photographs made by the State between the deposition of Donald Clark and Hunter's trial; (2) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to (a) provide adequate background information to Hunter's mental health expert and present additional mitigating circumstances, (b) object to the introduction of collateral crime victim evidence, (c) object to improper prosecutorial comments, and (d) adequately question potential jurors during voir dire; (3) Hunter's death sentence is invalid because (a) the jury instructions shifted the burden to Hunter to prove death was inappropriate, (b) the jury instructions improperly diluted the jury's sense of responsibility, and (c) the jury instruction on the cold, calculating, and premeditated aggravating circumstance was erroneous; (4) Hunter's trial was fundamentally unfair because (a) the trial court abused its discretion in failing to conduct an adequate mental health examination, (b) the trial court failed to appoint adequate mental health experts and conduct competency hearings, (c) the trial court erred by concluding death was the appropriate penalty, and (d) the trial court erred in failing to declare a mistrial when a State expert improperly qave his opinion on Hunter's credibility; (5) Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional; (6) newly discovered evidence establishes that Hunter's conviction and sentence are constitutionally unreliable; (7) Hunter's death sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic appravating circumstance; (8) the prosecutor made inflammatory and improper comments; (9) rule 4-3.5(d)(4), Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, is unconstitutional; (10) execution by electrocution is cruel or unusual punishment or both; (11) Hunter's trial was fraught with substantive and procedural errors; (12) Hunter was denied a fair trial due to an actual conflict of interest by the public defender's office; and (13) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file pretrial motions challenging the identification of Hunter by State witnesses Cooley and Howard.

witnesses Cooley and Howard and their identifications when they were or would have been shown the photographs. The trial court, however, summarily denied Hunter's argument within claim (13) that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file pretrial motions challenging the identity of Hunter as legally insufficient.

The trial court held an evidentiary hearing on April 5, 2000. Thereafter, the trial court denied all claims raised in the original post-conviction proceedings.

Mr. Hunter appealed to this Court, alleging that: (1) trial counsel had an actual conflict of interest; (2) trial counsel was ineffective for failing to challenge the State's case through the use of photographic evidence; (3) the prosecutor made inflammatory and improper comments and counsel was ineffective for failing to object; (4) the jury instructions during the penalty phase were constitutionally invalid; (5) Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional; (6) the trial court failed to appoint adequate mental health experts and conduct competency examinations; (7) Hunter's death sentence is disproportionate; (8) the trial court failed to declare a mistrial when a State expert improperly gave his opinion on Hunter's credibility; and (9) Hunter's death sentence rests upon an unconstitutional automatic aggravating circumstance.

This Court affirmed the trial court's denial of postconviction relief, finding issues (3), (4), (5), (6), (7), (8), and (9) to be procedurally barred because they could have been or were raised on direct appeal. This Court also denied Mr. Hunter's separate Petition for the Writ of Habeas Corpus. <u>Hunter v.</u> State, 817 So. 2d 786 (Fla. 2002).³

On June 6, 2002, Mr. Hunter filed a Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus in Federal District Court. Mr. Hunter's Petition was denied on June 16, 2004.⁴ The Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed the denial of federal habeas corpus relief on January 4, 2005. <u>Hunter v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corr.</u>, 395 F. 3d 1196 (11th Cir. 2005). The U.S. Supreme Court denied Mr. Hunter's petition for a writ of certiorari on October 3, 2005. <u>Hunter v.</u> Crosby, 546 U.S. 854 (2005).

³ Mr. Hunter raised three claims in the habeas petition: appellate counsel, the same one as at trial, had the same conflict of interest alleged in the post-conviction motion; appellate counsel failed to argue that his sentence was disproportionate to one received by codefendant Boyd; and Mr. Hunter might be incompetent to be executed.

⁴ Mr. Hunter raised the following claims in his Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus: (1) he was deprived of his right to counsel under the Sixth Amendment because his trial and appellate counsel labored under a conflict of interest; (2) he received ineffective assistance of counsel because his counsel failed to challenge the State's case through the use of photographic evidence; and (3) his counsel was ineffective for failing to object to improper and inflammatory comments and arguments made by the prosecutor.

On October 3, 2005, Mr. Hunter, through Assistant Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - Middle Region ("CCRC-Middle"), filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion raising the following claims: (1) newly discovered evidence establishes that Mr. Hunter is innocent of first degree murder and the death penalty because another co-defendant was the shooter; (2) newly discovered evidence establishes that the State made threats against and promises to State witness Tammie Cowan and did not reveal those threats and promises, in violation of <u>Brady v.</u> <u>Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83 (1963) and <u>Giglio v. United States</u>, 405 U.S. 150 (1972); (3) newly discovered evidence establishes that defense counsel had an actual conflict of interest in representing Mr. Hunter and a key State witness; and (4) newly discovered evidence establishes that a key State witness was incompetent to testify. (PCR2. 1-12).

On October 20, 2005, the State responded to Mr. Hunter's motion and moved to disqualify CCRC-Middle. (PCR2. 13). The circuit court issued an order striking Mr. Hunter's successive motion for failing to comply with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851, and staying the State's Motion to disqualify. (PCR2. 24). On January 11, 2006, Mr. Hunter, through CCRC-Middle, filed an Amended Successive Motion for Postconviction Relief in compliance with Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851. (PCR2. 29). The State filed its response

on February 23, 2006, and renewed its Motion to Disqualify CCRC-Middle. (PCR2. 54). On April 4, 2006, Assistant CCRC-Middle Eric Pinkard filed a Motion to Withdraw and Designate Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South as Counsel of Record. (PCR2. 71). The circuit court granted Mr. Pinkard's motion (PCR2. 79) and on May 16, 2006, undersigned counsel filed his Notice of Appearance on behalf of CCRC-South. (PCR2. 84).

The circuit court held a case management/<u>Huff</u> hearing on November 14, 2006. (PCR2. 218-252). On December 22, 2006, the circuit court denied Mr. Hunter's amended successive 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing. (PCR2. 112-154). On January 29, 2007, Mr. Hunter filed a timely notice of appeal to this Court. (PCR2. 177).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On direct appeal of Mr. Hunter's conviction and death sentence, this Court relied on the following facts which were elicited at Mr. Hunter's trial:

> On September 16, 1992, James Hunter (a.k.a. Michael Miller), Tammie Cowan, Cathy Woodward, Charles Anderson, Andre Smith, and Eric Boyd traveled by car from St. Augustine to DeLand. Tammie Cowan testified that there were two black BB guns and one silver handgun in the car. Boyd and Anderson had the BB guns and Hunter had the handgun. In DeLand they stopped briefly to see Andre Smith's mother. Thereafter, at approximately 11:44 p.m., Cowan stopped the car and Anderson, Boyd, Smith, and Hunter exited. Hunter then confronted and robbed a man on the street, using the silver handgun. Hunter and his companions then departed for Daytona Beach. Shortly afterwards, a "be on the lookout" (BOLO) alert for the DeLand robbers was transmitted by the police throughout the Volusia County area. The BOLO described a gray four-door sedan occupied by at least five black individuals, two of whom were females, who were suspects.

After the robbery, Hunter directed Cowan to drive to Daytona Beach and the vicinity of Bethune-Cookman College where four young men were standing outside the "Munch Shop." Hunter instructed Cowan to stop the vehicle, and Hunter, Lewis, Anderson, and Smith exited and approached the four men. Hunter was armed with the silver handgun.

Hunter approached the men and ordered them to "give it up." Hunter and his companions then robbed the men at gunpoint.

Thereafter, while the men were lying face down on the sidewalk, Hunter shot each of them in turn. Wayne Simpson was the last victim to be shot in this process, and he subsequently died. Hunter and his colleagues then fled with the victims' clothing, jewelry, and other miscellaneous items of personal property. When Hunter returned to the car, he ordered Cowan to leave, and told her that he had fired the gun because a victim had tried to run. Shortly thereafter, at 12:40 a.m., Deputy Richard Graves observed a vehicle in Ormond Beach matching the DeLand BOLO. Graves stopped the automobile, and Cowan told Graves that she and the others had come from DeLand. While the car was stopped, the DeLand robbery victim was brought to the scene where he identified Hunter as his robber and also identified the car. Cowan consented to a search of the car which yielded two BB guns and personal property belonging to the victims of both the DeLand and Daytona Beach robberies. The gun used by Hunter was never found.

Hunter v. Florida, 660 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 1995).

Relevant Trial Testimony

Tammie Cowan testified at Mr. Hunter's trial that when they left St. Augustine, there were 2 BB guns and a silver handgun in the car. Lee Lewis and Charles Anderson had the BB guns and Mr. Hunter had the silver gun. (R. 671.) The purpose of going to Daytona was to go to a girl's house so that Mr. Hunter could obtain some marijuana. (R. 706). Cowan testified that Mr. Hunter had the silver gun. (R. 679, 682) and that after the shootings

Mr. Hunter said "pussy nigger tried to run, so he shot him." (R. 682, 683). Cowan claimed that she didn't tell the police anything about what happened in Daytona Beach because Mr. Hunter told her to tell police they didn't do anything. (R. 694). Cowan was charged with accessory after the fact to armed robbery and accessory after the fact to murder. At the time of Mr. Hunter's trial, Cowan was incarcerated, serving a sentence of 364 days and 5 years probation. (R. 695, 710). Cowan pled guilty to a first-degree felony punishable by life imprisonment. She thought she could be charged with murder and she was worried about that, but she did not consider 364 days and five years probation to be a light sentence. (R. 700).

Taurus Cooley testified at Mr. Hunter's trial that he was with Simpson, Troutman, and Howard the night of September 16, 1992 when they were approached by four men. Cooley testified that it was Mr. Hunter who told the four victims to "give it up." (R. 813). Cooley identified Eric Boyd as the man who held a gun to Troutman's neck, and Mr. Hunter as the one who put the gun to Cooley. (R. 814). Cooley identified Pope as the shortest of the men, who was behind everyone else. (R. 817).

Cooley testified that Mr. Hunter told him to take off his shirt, and he was looking at Mr. Hunter and Mr. Hunter shot him. (R. 817). Cooley dropped the shirt and sat back down. A couple

seconds later, Mr. Hunter shot Howard, Troutman, and Simpson. (R. 817). Cooley testified that Mr. Hunter had a small handgun, like a .25, which was chrome and looked very realistic. (R. 819, 825). Cooley Stated that he had never seen the four robbers before that night. (R. 824).

Cooley did not give a description of Mr. Hunter the night of the shooting, but gave one later. He said he remembered the shooter wore a red shirt (R. 828) and definitely a red baseball cap. (R. 830). He testified that he got a good look at Mr. Hunter that night (R. 828), and despite the fact that Mr. Hunter had a hat pulled down low on his face, Cooley claimed he saw enough of his face to make a positive identification. (R. 829). Cooley testified that he was never shown a photo line up with Mr. Hunter's picture in it and he never identified Mr. Hunter to the police (R. 830), however Cooley claimed there was "no doubt" in his mind that Mr. Hunter was the shooter. (R. 830).

Relevant Postconviction Evidentiary Hearing Testimony

At the evidentiary hearing on Mr. Hunter's first postconviction motion, George Burden testified that he was the lead attorney on Mr. Hunter's case and was employed by the Office of the Public Defender during the entirety of his representation. (PCR. 120). He was aware of the various

Statements of different witnesses regarding the different clothing that each participant in the shooting was wearing (PCR. 121) and that witnesses Taurus Cooley and Michael Howard had described the shooter as having on red clothing. (PCR. 122). He also recalled that all the witnesses Stated that there was only one shooter. (PCR. 122).

Burden made a demand for discovery in the case. (PCR. 122). He became aware of color photographs taken of the four suspects taken by Officer Mclean on the evening of the shooting only during the testimony of the last State witness during the jury trial. (PCR. 125). He Stated that one of the "show up" folders had a picture of Eric Boyd wearing a red shirt. (PCR. 130). Burden further Stated that the show up folder photograph of Mr. Hunter, taken by Officer Mclean on the evening of the shooting, showed him to be wearing a white shirt. (PCR. 132). He recalled that none of the witnesses testified that the shooter wore a white shirt. (PCR. 132).

Burden testified that he recalled that Taurus Cooley testified that he was an eyewitness who was shot during the incident. (PCR. 136). Burden claimed that he was not aware of any recent or pending charges against Cooley at the time he testified at Mr. Hunter's trial. (PCR. 138). Burden claimed he was unaware that on March 24th, 1992 Cooley was arrested by the

Daytona Beach Police Department on charges of fraudulent use of a credit card and possession of cocaine. (PCR. 138). He claimed he was unaware that on April 22, 1992 the Office of the Public Defender of Volusia County was appointed to represent Cooley on felony charges of credit card fraud and possession of cocaine. (PCR. 139, 140).

Burden claimed he was unaware that on May 11th of 1993 Cooley pled no contest to fraudulent use of credit card and possession of cocaine and received three years probation(PCR. 141). He claimed he was further unaware that in misdemeanor case number 92-41177 Cooley was arrested and charged with the crime of battery and that the Office of the Public Defender in Volusia County was appointed to represent him on that charge on September 9th, 1992. (PCR. 141). He claimed he was unaware that Cooley was arrested by the Daytona Beach Police Department for possession of cannabis which occurred on January 28, 1991. (PCR. 141) and that the Office of the Public Defender for Volusia County represented Cooley on those charges. Counsel Burden further Stated that he never cross examined Cooley concerning those recent and pending charges at Mr. Hunter's trial (PCR. 142) nor questioned Cooley concerning his prior criminal history during his deposition. (PCR. 142). Nor did he tell Mr. Hunter or the court that the Office of the Public Defender represented

State witness/victim Taurus Cooley. (PCR. 144).

Burden testified that he had made a specific discovery demand upon the Office of the State Attorney requesting criminal background history of all State witnesses and was never provided any information concerning the criminal background of Taurus Cooley. (PCR. 146). He claimed that had he been aware of Cooley's prior criminal history that he would have used it in cross examination. (PCR. 165, 166).

Elizabeth Blackburn-Gardner testified at the evidentiary hearing that she was the lead prosecutor in Mr. Hunter's case (PCR. 170) who was responsible for responding to discovery requests. (PCR. 170). Blackburn did not recall that witness/victim Taurus Cooley had any criminal history. (PCR. 179). She did not recall that the Office of The Public Defender had been appointed to represent Cooley on his criminal charges. (PCR. 180). She characterized Taurus Cooley as an important witness in the case. (PCR. 181).

Taurus Cooley testified at the evidentiary hearing that he was a victim in the case and had testified at Mr. Hunter's trial. (PCR. 263). He Stated that the person that shot him had on red clothing. (PCR. 264). He admitted that he had been charged in 1992 with credit card fraud and possession of cocaine, and that he was represented by the Office of the Public

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