### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC07-161

IMI OCT 22 P 1: 3t

JAMES EUGENE HUNTER

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

BILL McCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT
KENNETH S. NUNNELLEY
Fla. Bar No. 998818
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
444 SEABREEZE BLVD., SUITE 500
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32114
(386)238-4990
FAX - (386) 226-0457

###

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The post-conviction trial court properly denied Hunter's successive Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851 motion without an evidentiary hearing. The claims pressed on appeal concern claims and subclaims that are insufficiently pled, have no legal basis, and are factually unsupportable and inconsistent with the facts developed in the previous proceedings conducted in this case. Summary denial was proper.

#### ARGUMENT

## I. THE "NEW EVIDENCE/ACTUAL SHOOTER" CLAIM<sup>1</sup>

On pages 22-25 of his brief, Hunter argues that "newly discovered evidence" shows that co-defendant Eric Boyd was the "actual shooter." This claim, which was Claim I in Hunter's successive motion, was summarily denied by the post-conviction trial court. Under settled Florida law, a summary denial of post-conviction relief will be affirmed when the law and

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Hunter has combined various claims in his brief. The State has separately numbered the individual claims -- those claims in the same order in which they appear in Hunter's *Initial Brief*.

competent substantial evidence support the findings of the court. Diaz v. Dugger, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998).

In denying relief on his claim, the post-conviction trial court stated:

### GROUND I

Defendant claims that newly discovered evidence, form of sworn testimony of coembodied in the defendants Pope, Eric Boyd, Bruce and Anderson, will establish that he is innocent of firstdegree murder. Defendant claims this evidence will establish that he was not involved in the shooting, and that he was not in the immediate area when the shooting took place. Eric Pinkard, Esquire, (Capital Collateral Counsel for Defendant at the time his Amended Successive 3.851 Motion was filed), claims that Eric Boyd informed him that he was in possession of the firearm, and shot Taurus Cooley, one of the victims who testified at Defendant's trial, in a dispute over drugs. Mr. Boyd allegedly "fronted" drugs to Mr. Cooley approximately one month before the shooting, and Mr. Cooley had failed to pay for the drugs. Defendant claims that the testimony of Boyd, Pope, and Anderson will verify that the reason for the trip to Daytona Beach was for Mr. Boyd to obtain the drugs or money from Mr. Cooley.

Defendant further claims that the above evidence could not have been obtained earlier. He claims that Mr. Boyd had refused to give a statement to CCRC investigators or attorneys in 2000 because he thought that the State was going to finally honor a promise they made in a plan to straighten the entire case out. the prosecutors, Boyd alleges that Alexander, Esquire, and Elizabeth Blackburn, Esquire, promised him that in five to eight years, they would bring Defendant back into court and clear everything up. Mr. Boyd claims that the prosecutors told him that if he wanted it to work, he had better keep his mouth shut and not talk to anyone, especially Defendant's lawyers. The Defendant alleges that the information from Anderson and Pope is also "newly discovered" in that they had remained silent because of promises from the State that they would receive leniency from their sentences after serving a few years.

In order to obtain relief on a claim of newly discovered evidence, a claimant must show:

(1) that the newly discovered evidence was unknown to the defendant or defendant's counsel at the time of trial and could not have been discovered through due diligence; and (2) that the evidence is of such a character that it would probably produce an acquittal on retrial. Wright, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S517; Mills v. State, 786 So.2d 547, 549-50 (Fla. 2001) (citing Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512 (1998)).

The Court finds that the Defendant does not satisfy the requirements for relief based on a claim newly discovered evidence. First, concerning the reason Defendant and his codefendants came to Daytona Beach, and the sequence of events at the crime scene, are within Defendant's knowledge. As such, he does not satisfy the first prong of Jones. Assuming, arguendo, that Mr. Boyd would have testified as claimed in the motion, the allegations contained in Ground I are facially insufficient to establish that Defendant would probably be acquitted of the murder of Wayne Simpson, the fourth robbery victim. The central issue in this case is who shot and killed Wayne Simpson. This successor motion does not allege that is now claiming to have murdered Additionally, the State has noted that Mr. Boyd was tried with Defendant, and Mr. Boyd did not testify against Defendant at trial in exchange for a promise of leniency or for any other reason. This issue was explored at the prior Rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing in this case, at which Mr. Boyd did testify and denied ever making any statement adverse to his cousin, the Defendant. (See Appendix A - Transcript of April 5, V. II, pp. 238-240). proceedings, Defendant's claim that Boyd kept quiet until now due to expectation of leniency as a quid pro quo for nontestimony against Defendant trial conclusively refuted by the record. Accordingly, this claim is denied.

(RV1, 113-114).

Those findings by the post-conviction court are supported by the law and by competent substantial evidence, and should not be disturbed.

To the extent that further discussion is necessary, as the post-conviction court found, the reason the defendants came to Daytona Beach, and the sequence of events at the time of the murder of Wayne Simpson, are peculiarly within the knowledge of the defendant. (R114). And, as the post-conviction court pointed out, the successive motion does not allege that Boyd was the person who killed Mr. Simpson, and does not allege that he would testify that he was. (R114). Because that is so, there is no reasonable probability of a different result, and Hunter cannot meet his burden of proof on a newly discovered evidence claim under Jones v. State, 709 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1998). The summary denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.

## II. THE "NEW EVIDENCE OF CONFLICT" CLAIM

On pages 25-29 of his *Initial Brief*, Hunter argues that he should have received an evidentiary hearing on his "conflict of interest" claim because that claim is supported by "newly discovered evidence" even though the evidence on which that claim is based has been in the possession of collateral counsel

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Hunter cannot meet the first prong of *Jones*, either, as the post-conviction court found. Boyd's "testimony" was not unknown at the time of trial because it concerns facts wholly within Hunter's knowledge.

since long before the first post-conviction relief motion was filed. Under settled Florida law, a summary denial of post-conviction relief will be affirmed when the law and competent substantial evidence support the findings of the court. Diaz v. Dugger, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998).

In denying relief on this claim, the post-conviction court held:

### GROUND III

Defendant argues that he is entitled to a new trial because newly discovered evidence establishes that his trial counsel, George Burden, had an actual conflict of interest that adversely affected his representation of Defendant and deprived him of his Constitutional right to conflict-free counsel under the Sixth Amendment. Specifically, Defendant claims that Defense Counsel Burden had a conflict of interest within the Office of the, Public Defender, represented both Defendant and the victim, Cooley. A conflict of interest claim was raised in the original post conviction proceedings, based on the fact that key State witness Cooley had the Public Defender's office represented by immediately prior to and during the Public Defender's representation of Defendant in this case. At the time of the post conviction proceeding, both Defense Counsel Burden and former State Attorney Elizabeth Blackburn testified that they had no knowledge of Mr. Cooley's prior record and representation by the Public Defender's office. Defendant alleges that this claimed ignorance was the basis for this Court, the Florida Supreme Court, the Federal District Court, and the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals, to deny Defendant's initial post conviction motion.

Defendant further claims that the "newly discovered evidence" establishing the testimony of Mr. Burden and Ms. Blackburn on this issue was false was discovered within one year of the filing of the instant successive 3.851 motion. Defendant claims

State Attorney Blackburn had obtained an NCIC/FCIC report on Mr. Cooley prior to trial, which contained Mr. Cooley's prior record for which the Office of the Public Defender had represented him. Said report was delivered to Mr. Burden, and includes notations that it was delivered to him prior to Defendant's trial. Thus, Defendant claims that CCRC counsel was deceived by the testimony of Elizabeth Blackburn and George Burden at the time of the evidentiary hearing as to their alleged lack of knowledge of the conflict.

Court finds that this claim of newly discovered evidence is untimely. Counsel alleges that he located this evidence in the possession of the State Attorney's office. This evidence was available at the time of the prior 3.851 proceeding, and does satisfy either prong of the Jones discovered evidence" standard. As the State has noted, in order for the prior testimony of Attorneys Burden and Blackburn on this point at the first Rule 3.851 hearing to be false, this Court would have to find that both attorneys had the NCIC-FCIC printouts showing Cooley's criminal history in their possession when they tried this case. It would follow from such a finding that the NCIC-FCIC record on Cooley has been available to Collateral Counsel since the inception of the capital post-conviction public records proceedings in this case, long before Defendant's first Rule 3.851 motion was filed, by just examining the public records that were provided to him years ago. Defense Counsel at the time the instant motion was filed even asserts that he "discovered" Cooley's NCIC-FCIC report in the State Attorney's file. The Court's files and records establish that there have been no public records proceedings in this ease since 1999. As a result, counsel had to "discover" Cooley's criminal history printout in the public records materials that were provided to him prior to filing defendant's first rule 3.851 motion. Hence, this evidence is unlikely to be "newly discovered."

Further, counsel acknowledged his awareness of the potential existence of Cooley's criminal history printout years ago. He referred this Court's predecessor Judge to pages 321 and 325 in the record on direct appeal containing trial counsel's discovery motion for production of a criminal history printout on the State's witness and the trial court's order granting its production during the first Rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing. (Appendix B - April 5, 2000 3.851. Evidentiary Hearing Transcript, V. I, p. 53).

The record demonstrates that this proposed evidence could have been discovered (if in fact it was not) prior to the initial Rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing through the exercise of due diligence on the part of collateral counsel, and is therefore not newly discovered within the meaning of Jones, supra, and Rule 3.851(e)(2)(c), Fla. R. Crim. P. Accordingly, this claim is denied.

(RV1, 115-117).

Those findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, and are in accord with settled Florida law. This claim is no more than an attempt to relitigate the "conflict of interest" claim yet again. Hunter cannot establish either prong of *Jones*, and summary denial was proper.

Despite Hunter's ipse dixit arguments, the facts, as found by every Court to decide this claim, are that Hunter's trial attorney was not aware of any conflict of interest and was, therefore, unaffected by any such conflict. Hunter v. Sec'y, Dep't of Corr., 395 F.3d 1196, 1200-1202 (11th Cir. 2005); Hunter v. State/Moore, 817 So. 2d 786, 793 (Fla. 2002). Nothing contained in the successive post-conviction relief motion calls those findings into question, even putting aside the

untimeliness of this claim. The denial of relief should be affirmed in all respects.<sup>3</sup>

## III. THE "NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE"INCOMPETENT WITNESS CLAIM<sup>4</sup>

On pages 29-35 of his *Initial Brief*, Hunter asserts that he has "newly discovered evidence" that state witness Taurus Coley was "incompetent" to testify at Hunter's capital trial. The post-conviction trial court summarily denied this claim, which was based on events that occurred long **after** Hunter's trial. Under settled Florida law, a summary denial of post-conviction relief will be affirmed when the law and competent substantial evidence support the findings of the court. *Diaz v. Dugger*, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998). There is no basis for relief.

In denying relief on this claim, the post-conviction court held:

### GROUND IV

In his final ground, Defendant asserts that newly discovered evidence establishes that Taurus Cooley, the key State witness, was not mentally competent to testify at the time of Defendant's trial. This fact was allegedly discovered within one year of the filing of the current motion. In support of this claim,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> In addition to the untimely and seemingly dilatory nature of this claim, it is based on the questionable assumption that both the prosecutor and Hunter's trial counsel lied to the Circuit Court in their prior testimony on this very issue. The Circuit Court resolved the credibility choices against Hunter, and the most recent pleading is no more than a personal attack on those two lawyers. It is not a basis for relief.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This claim was Claim IV in Hunter's post-conviction motion.

Defendant generally refers to court documents of proceedings in which Mr. Cooley was declared legally insane and not guilty by reason of insanity on several felony charges. These proceedings occurred after Defendant's trial. The basis for the determination of insanity was longstanding mental illness, suffered before, during and after the time Mr. Cooley testified at Mr. Hunter's trial. Defendant argues that CCRC Counsel and investigators had no reason to suspect that Mr. Cooley had been found legally insane, and therefore, due diligence was exercised.

The Court finds that this evidence cannot be considered "newly discovered evidence", because such evidence was in existence but undiscovered at the time of trial. Porter v. State, 653 So.2d 354, 360 (Fla. 1995). As noted by the State, Defendant does not assert that Cooley (who was one of the Bethune-Cookman College students victimized in this case) was also incompetent testify at to the prior Rule 3.851 proceedings in this case, where Defendant called Cooley as a defense witness. (Appendix C - April 5, 2000 Rule 3.851 Hearing Transcript, V. II, pp. 169-197). Defendant has also failed to provide the name, address, and telephone number of the expert witness that he asserts he "may" call to testify, contrary to the requirements of Rule 3.851(e)(2)(C)(i), Fla. R. Crim. P. He has also failed to allege that Cooley is consenting to submit to any mental examination by Defendant's unidentified mental status This claim is also facially insufficient expert. because it fails to allege any facts showing how Cooley's adjudication of not guilty by reason of insanity in Volusia County case number 2001-30956 CFAES on October 3, 2001 would have any relevance to Cooley's competency to testify in Defendant's jury trial in August of 1993. As such, this claim is denied.

(RV1, 117).

As the collateral proceeding court found, this "evidence" cannot be "newly discovered" because it did not exist at the time of Hunter's capital trial. See, Porter v. State, 653 So. 2d

354, 360 (Fla. 1995); Diaz v. State, 945 So. 2d 1136, 1144 (Fla. 2006); Kearse v. State, SC05-1876 (Fla., Aug. 30, 2007). And, to the extent that further discussion is necessary, Hunter's successive motion was insufficiently pleaded for various reasons, among them the failure to allege how Cooley's not guilty by reason of insanity in October of 2001 has any relevance at all to that's witness's competence to testify at Hunter's trial in August of 1993. Summary denial of this claim was proper, and that disposition should not be disturbed.

### IV. THE BRADY/GIGLIO CLAIM6

On pages 36-44 of his *Initial Brief*, Hunter argues that he is entitled to an evidentiary hearing on his claim of violations of *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), and *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150 (1972), as related to the testimony of trial witness Tammie Cowan. Under settled Florida law, a summary denial of post-conviction relief will be affirmed when the law and competent substantial evidence support the

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